No. S173586

## SUPREME COURT COPY

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STATE BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL OF CALIFORNIA, AFL-CIO,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF VISTA, et al.,

Respondents.

FILED with

parmission

OCT 1 - 2009

Frederick (C. 60 a. d. a. a. a. a.

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D052181

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of San Diego Case No. 37-2007-00054316-CU-WM-NC Hon. Robert P. Dahlquist, Presiding

#### **OPENING BRIEF**

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does California's Prevailing Wage Law, Labor Code §§1720-84, apply to construction projects awarded by charter cities?

#### INTRODUCTION

The State's Prevailing Wage Law sets minimum labor standards for construction workers on public projects. The law requires contractors to pay their employees at least the wages and benefits determined by the Director of Industrial Relations to be prevailing for the craft and geographic area. The law also requires contractors to hire apprentices indentured in state-approved programs and to contribute to their training, thereby developing California's next generation of skilled workers.

The California Legislature made the protections of the Prevailing Wage Law applicable "to *all* workers employed on public works." Labor Code §1771 (emphasis added). The Legislature made explicit that public works include projects awarded by the State and *every* political subdivision, "includ[ing] any county, city, district, public housing authority, or public agency of the state, and assessment or improvement districts." §1721.¹ The Legislature also made statutory findings about the statewide importance of the Prevailing Wage Law (Stats. 2003, ch. 851, §1 (A.B. 1506); Stats. 2002, ch. 892, §1 (S.B. 278); Stats. 2002, ch. 868, §1 (A.B. 1506)), and adopted a Concurrent Resolution to "reaffirm[] its intent for the state prevailing wage law to apply" to all public projects "as the law addresses important statewide concerns." Stats. 2003, ch. 135 (S.C.R. 49).

The question presented by this case is the same question the Court left "open for consideration at another time" in City of Long Beach v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/<sub>U</sub> Unless otherwise stated, all code references are to the California Labor Code.

Department of Industrial Relations (2004) 34 Cal.4th 942, 947: Can a charter city defy the Legislature by exempting private contractors on its municipal projects from having to pay prevailing wages and hire apprentices? We demonstrate that the answer should be "no."

Under the California Constitution, a statute adopted by the Legislature trumps the conflicting ordinance of a charter city – even as to a matter that otherwise would be just a "municipal affair" - "if . . . the subject of the state statute is one of statewide concern and . . . the statute is reasonably related to its resolution." California Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1, 17. "[T]here are innumerable authorities holding that general law prevails over local enactments of a chartered city, even in regard to matters which would otherwise be deemed to be strictly municipal affairs, where the subject matter of the general law is of statewide concern." Professional Fire Fighters, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1963) 60 Cal.2d 276, 292. It is also well established that "statewide" in this context "refers to all matters of more than local concern and thus includes matters the impact of which is primarily regional rather than truly statewide." Comm. of Seven Thousand v. Superior Court (1988) 45 Cal.3d 491, 505. Any doubt about whether a statute addresses statewide concerns "must be resolved in favor of the legislative authority of the state." California Fed., 54 Cal.3d at 24 (internal quotation marks removed).

The Prevailing Wage Law addresses statewide concerns by ensuring that construction workers receive adequate wages and benefits and that apprentices are trained to meet the future needs of the State. Absent the Prevailing Wage Law, responsible contractors that pay prevailing wages and spend money training apprentices would have difficulty competing for public work. Public projects would depress area labor standards rather than

supporting them. Good jobs that enable construction workers to support families and contribute to their communities would be jeopardized.

These concerns with maintaining area labor standards and apprenticeship training in the construction industry are not just the concerns of a particular municipality. The construction workers covered by the Prevailing Wage Law are not municipal employees, and they move from project to project in regional labor markets much larger than any individual city. The effects of the Prevailing Wage Law are also felt throughout the construction labor market. Because the concerns addressed by the Prevailing Wage Law have a significant extramunicipal dimension, individual cities should not be able to second-guess the California Legislature's policy judgment by exempting contractors from the law.

We appreciate that this Court held in City of Pasadena v. Charleville (1932) 215 Cal. 384 that the California Legislature did not have the constitutional authority to apply an earlier version of the prevailing wage statutes to a charter city project. But Charleville is an outdated decision that relied on Adkins v. Children's Hospital (1923) 261 U.S. 525 for the long-since discredited premise that the Legislature's police power is too limited to permit it to set statewide labor standards. From that premise, the Court reasoned in 1932 that a prevailing wage law cannot be deemed a matter of general public or state concern. Charleville, 215 Cal. at 389-90.

Subsequent cases have entirely repudiated the *Lochner*-era constitutional premise for *Charleville's* holding.<sup>2</sup> *Every* other state supreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Three justices called for *Charleville* to be explicitly overruled in *Bishop v. City of San Jose* (1969) 1 Cal.3d 56, stating: "Adkins... has long been repudiated, and it is now recognized that minimum wages are a proper subject of state concern. West Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish (1937) 300 U.S. 379. City of Pasadena v. Charleville should also be overruled." Bishop, 1 (continued...)

court to consider this issue post-Charleville has recognized that prevailing wage laws for public construction projects address significant extramunicipal concerns and, therefore, fully apply to home-rule cities, no less than all other political subdivisions. See pp. 22-23, infra. The time has come for this Court to overrule Charleville's anachronistic holding.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. The State's Prevailing Wage Law

"The Legislature has declared that it is the public policy of California 'to vigorously enforce minimum labor standards in order to ensure employees are not required or permitted to work under substandard unlawful conditions, and to protect employers who comply with the law from those who attempt to gain competitive advantage at the expense of their workers by failing to comply with minimum labor standards.' (§90.5, subd. (a).) The conditions of employment on construction projects financed in whole or in part by public funds are governed by the prevailing wage law. (§§1720-1861.)" Lusardi Construction Co. v. Aubry (1992) 1 Cal.4th 976, 985.

The Prevailing Wage Law applies throughout the State to "construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work" that is funded by the State or any of its "political subdivision[s]." §1720(a)(1), (b)(2). This includes "any county, city, district, public housing authority, or public agency of the state, and assessment or improvement districts." §1721 (emphasis added). The law applies, however, only to private contractors, not "to work carried out by a public agency with its own forces." §1771.

<sup>2/(...</sup>continued)

Cal.3d at 70 (Peters, J., dissenting). The majority in *Bishop* did not reach the issue because the case was decided on a different ground.

All contractors on public work must pay their employees "not less than the general prevailing rate of per diem wages for work of a similar character in the locality in which the public work is performed." §1771. A contractor that fails to do so is liable for the deficiency and is subject to a statutory penalty. §1775.

The Director of Industrial Relations is responsible for determining prevailing wage rates for each craft and geographic area. §1770. The Legislature defined the "prevailing" wage as the "modal" wage (*i.e* single wage rate paid to the greatest number of workers in the relevant craft and labor market), so prevailing wage rates generally track the wage rates agreed upon in regional collective bargaining between construction unions and contractors' associations. §1773.9(b)(1); Joint Appendix ("JA") 114. These regional, multi-employer collective bargaining agreements enable skilled construction workers to move from project to project, and employer to employer, while continuing to receive the same hourly wages and coverage through the same health care and pension plans. JA 113.

The Prevailing Wage Law requires the public entity "awarding any contract for public work, or otherwise undertaking any public work," to obtain from the Director the general prevailing rate for each craft, classification or type of worker needed to execute the contract. §1773. The public entity must specify those rates in its call for bids, in bid specifications, and in the contract or, alternatively, must specify in those documents that the prevailing wage rates are on file in its principal office. §1773.2. Nevertheless, even if an awarding body fails to include prevailing wage specifications, private contractors still have a statutory obligation to pay at least prevailing wages on public work, because the statutory requirement that workers be paid the prevailing wage "is not limited to those workers whose employers have contractually agreed to pay the

prevailing wage; it applies to 'all workers employed on public works." Lusardi, 1 Cal.4th at 987 (emphasis in original).

In addition to requiring that contractors on public projects must pay construction workers at least the prevailing wage, the Prevailing Wage Law promotes apprenticeship training in the construction trades. The law requires that contractors on public projects that employ workers "in any apprenticeable craft" must use apprentices indentured in state-approved apprenticeship programs to perform at least 20 percent of that work. §1777.5(d), (g). Contractors may pay these apprentices a lower "apprentice" prevailing wage rate. §1777.5(b). For every hour of work in an apprenticeable craft, the contractor also must make training contributions to the California Apprenticeship Council or to an approved apprenticeship program. §1777.5(m).

More than 50,000 workers in California are presently indentured in state-approved apprenticeship programs in the construction trades. JA 115. The Division of Apprenticeship Standards grants approval to programs that meet the criteria established by the California Apprenticeship Council, and graduates of approved programs receive a journeyman's certificate upon completion of their training. See generally Assoc. Builders and Contractors of Southern California, Inc. v. Nunn (9th Cir. 2004) 356 F.3d 979, 982-83; Southern Cal. Chapter of Assoc. Builders and Contractors v. Cal. Apprenticeship Council (1992) 4 Cal.4th 422, 428-29. The Legislature has declared that "apprenticeship programs are a vital part of the educational system in California" (Stats. 1999, ch. 903, §1 (S.B. 921)), and that "[t]he state's system for promoting quality apprenticeship training in the construction trades depends upon the incentives provided by the prevailing wage law" (Stats. 2003, ch. 135 (S.C.R. 49)).

#### 2. The City of Vista's Ordinance

The City of Vista ("City" or "Vista") was a general law city from the date of its incorporation in 1963 until 2007. At the beginning of 2007, Vista was about to embark on a \$100 million public works capital improvement program. JA 129-141. Vista's City Attorney advised the City Council that the City could save money on its capital projects if it became a charter city because, under this Court's 1932 *Charleville* decision, private contractors are not required to comply with the State's Prevailing Wage Law on projects awarded and funded by charter cities. JA 130. The projected savings would result from the City receiving lower bids from private contractors that pay workers less than the prevailing wages and that do not expend funds training apprentices.<sup>3</sup>

The Vista City Council approved a special election to adopt a charter. JA 129-141. The measure appeared on the ballot for the June 5, 2007 special election as Proposition C. JA 143-47. The ballot pamphlet included the City Council's "Argument in Favor of Proposition C," which stated that, by adopting a charter, the City could save money on capital projects by hiring outside contractors that do not pay prevailing wages. JA 146. There was no opposing ballot argument. *Id.* On June 5, 2007, City

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/ Whether prevailing wage laws significantly increase total project costs has been the subject of academic debate. Most studies have found the increase in project costs to be small and the savings from using cheap labor offset by the loss of income tax and sales tax revenues and the public expense of providing health care and other services to underpaid workers and their families. See generally The Economics of Prevailing Wages (2005) Azari-Rad, Philips, and Prus, eds.; N. Mahalia, Prevailing Wages and Government Contracting Costs: A Review of the Research (Economic Policy Institute 2008), available at <a href="https://www.epi.org/publications/entry/bp215">www.epi.org/publications/entry/bp215</a>. The City of Vista focused only on short-term labor cost savings.

voters approved Proposition C. Turnout was about 21 percent of eligible voters, and fewer than 7,000 Vista residents cast ballots. JA 314, ¶ 32.

On June 26, 2007, the Vista City Council followed through with its plan to exempt contractors on City projects from the State's Prevailing Wage Law by adopting Ordinance No. 2007-9. JA 153-167. The ordinance amended the Vista Municipal Code to provide: "A. Payment of Prevailing Wages. No City contract shall require payment of the prevailing wage schedule unless: 1. The prevailing wage is legally required, and constitutionally permitted to be imposed, by federal or state grants pursuant to federal or state law; or 2. The project is considered by the City Council not to be a municipal affair of the city; or 3. Payment of the prevailing wage schedule is authorized by resolution of the City Council." JA 166 (emphasis added).

Following adoption of Ordinance No. 2007-9, the City began to enter into contracts for the City's upcoming capital projects without including prevailing wage requirements in the contracts. *See, e.g.*, JA 385-530 (October 30, 2007 City Council Agenda Report, approving a contract for two fire stations that did not include a prevailing wage requirement). The City's \$100 million in capital projects include two new fire stations, a permanent stage house for the City's amphitheater, a new civic center, and a new sports park. JA 244.

#### 3. Trial Court Proceedings

After the Vista City Council adopted its anti-prevailing-wage ordinance, the State Building and Construction Trades Council of California, AFL-CIO ("SBCTC"), filed suit in the San Diego Superior Court. The SBCTC sought a writ of mandate to compel the City and its officials to comply with the State's Prevailing Wage Law. JA 245-306. The SBCTC is a labor federation comprised of local labor unions and local

labor councils that collectively represent more than 300,000 men and women who work in the building and construction trades in California, including journey-level workers and apprentices. JA 247, ¶ 8.

The SBCTC argued that charter cities cannot supercede state laws if the subject of the state law is of statewide concern. JA 95-109. The SBCTC pointed to findings by the California Legislature that the Prevailing Wage Law addresses statewide concerns by protecting area labor standards and promoting apprenticeship training. JA 101. The SBCTC also presented undisputed evidence that labor markets for journey-level and apprentice construction workers in California are much larger than individual cities; that collective bargaining and apprenticeship training takes place on a regional basis; and that the labor standards supported by the Prevailing Wage Law have significant extra-municipal dimensions. JA 110-117.

The trial court concluded that precedent required it to deny the SBCTC's petition. JA 699-700. The trial court cited *Vial v. City of San Diego* (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 346, in which the Fourth Appellate District had relied on *Charleville* to hold that whether the Prevailing Wage Law applies to a charter city construction project depends on whether the *project* is a matter of statewide concern, and that the Legislature lacks the constitutional authority to apply the Prevailing Wage Law to municipal projects. But the trial court stated that "[i]f this Court were not bound to follow the *Vial* decision, the Court would have been inclined to grant [the SBCTC's] petition." *Id.* The trial court explained:

It appears to this Court that the focus of the *Vial* decision was on the issue of whether any particular construction project would be a matter of "municipal" vs. "statewide" concern. . . . In contrast, it appears that the more appropriate focus should be on whether *the statute* that is sought to be

applied addresses a matter of "municipal" or "statewide" concern. . . . The Court believes that the payment of prevailing wages for modern public works, and the public policies underlying the prevailing wage statute, are properly considered matters of statewide concern.

Therefore, if this Court were free to decide the matter without having to follow *Vial*, the Court would be inclined to find that (1) the prevailing wage law properly reflects a matter of statewide concern, and (2) the City of Vista is required to follow the prevailing wage law in connection with its pending public projects.

JA 699-700 (emphasis in original).

The trial court entered a final judgment denying the SBCTC's petition. JA 696-700.

#### 4. Court of Appeal Decision

The SBCTC appealed to the Fourth Appellate District, and a panel from Division One issued a divided decision.

All three justices agreed that the case was ripe and that there was a direct conflict between the State's Prevailing Wage Law and the City of Vista's refusal to include prevailing wage specifications in its contracts. Maj. Op. at 7-10, 31-32; Dis. Op. at 2 n.2.

The majority held that, under *Charleville*, charter cities need not comply with the Prevailing Wage Law, and it therefore affirmed the denial of the petition. The majority reasoned that it lacked a sufficient basis for departing from this Court's holding in *Charleville*. Maj. Op. at 33 ("The biggest hurdle to any departure from the holdings in *Charleville* and the cases which have consistently followed it, is the fact that, in its essential dimensions, the [prevailing wage law] has not changed since its enactment."). The majority also reasoned that, because the Prevailing Wage Law does not apply to construction projects funded by private entities, the

Legislature could not have been addressing statewide concerns. *Id.* at 40 (stating that the "lack of general application and . . . exceptions" to the prevailing wage law "*prevent us* from" concluding the law addresses statewide concerns) (emphasis added).

Justice Irion dissented on the ground that *Charleville* is no longer good law because it rests on an outmoded and unduly limited conception of the police power and also because the current Prevailing Wage Law is significantly different, and more focused on extra-municipal concerns, than the 1931 law at issue in *Charleville*. Dis. Op. at 5-7. The dissent concluded that charter cities cannot opt out of the Prevailing Wage Law because "the record establishes that the legislative purposes of (1) maintaining the wage base in the construction industry and (2) promoting quality apprenticeship training in construction trades are both matters of statewide concern and, further, that the prevailing wage law is reasonably related to advancing those purposes." *Id.* at 13.

This Court granted review on August 19, 2009.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Prevailing Wage Law Adopted by the California Legislature Trumps the Conflicting Ordinance Adopted by the City of Vista.

The California Legislature unquestionably *intends* the Prevailing Wage Law to set minimum labor standards for construction workers on all public projects, including projects awarded by charter cities. The Prevailing Wage Law applies by its terms to projects funded by the State and every "political subdivision" (§1720(a),(b)), including "any . . . city." §1721 (emphasis added). The Legislature has made statutory declarations that it considers the application of the Prevailing Wage Law to all public projects to be a matter of statewide concern. Stats. 2003, ch. 851, §1 (A.B. 1506);

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