SUPREME COURT COP'

No.:S173586 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

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

ARGUMENT

1. <u>Petitioner's Claim Ignores California's Strong Tradition of</u> Home Rule.

Originally, California made cities "subordinate subdivisions of the State Government under the 1849 Constitution." (San Francisco v. Canavan (1872) 42 Cal. 541, 557.) The 1879 Constitution still required all cities to comply with general state laws. (People v. Hoge (1880) 55 Cal. 612, 618; see also Comment, Municipal Home Rule: Municipal Market as a Public Purpose (1923) 11 Cal.L.Rev. 446.) The 1879 Constitution was

similar to the sampling of states cited by Petitioner allowing state laws to supersede any local laws. (POB, p. 21.) ¹

In 1896, the Constitution was amended to strengthen the authority of Home Rule ("Charter") cities. Former Article XI, § 6 exempted all charter cities from laws that interfered with local "municipal affairs." (Fragley v. Phelan (1899) 126 Cal. 383; Ex Parte F.W. Braun (1903) 141 Cal. 204, 207-213 ("Braun").) Braun upheld one of the most fundamental elements of "municipal affairs," the power to tax. Subsequent case law reinforced this "fiscal affair" component of Home Rule by also recognizing that one of the core values of managing "fiscal affairs" is the power over expenditure of funds. (Rothschild v. Bantel (1907) 152 Cal. 5 (custody of municipal funds); Los Angeles Gas & Elec. Corp. v. City of Los Angeles (1922) 188 Cal. 307, 317-318 (constitutional credit prohibitions do not

¹ Petitioner cites cases from jurisdictions that do not have strong "Home Rule" provisions. (POB, p. 21.) Except Nebraska, these states do not have a similar system to California and require cities to follow the general laws of the state, and none have provisions like Article XI, Section 5(a). (ALASKA CONST. art. X, §§ 10-11; ARK. CONST. OF 1874, art. XII, §§ 3 & 6; CONN. CONST. art. X, §§ 1-2; DEL. CONST. art. IX, § 1; HAW. CONST. art. VIII, §§ 1-2; ILL. CONST. art. VII, § 6(i); Ind. Code Ch. 36-1-3; KY. CONST. pt. II, § 156b; MD. CONST. art. XI-E, §§ 3 & 6; MASS. CONST. art. LXXXIX of Articles of Amendment, §§ 2, 6, 8, & 9; MICH. CONST. art. VII, §§ 22 & 34; MINN. CONST. art. XII, §§ 2, 4; Mo. CONST. art. VI, § 19(a); MONT. CONST. art. XI, § 6; NEV. CONST. art. XIII, § 8; N.J. CONST. art. IV, § VII, para. 9; N.M. CONST. art. X, § 6, subd.D; N.Y. CONST. art. IX, § 2; OHIO CONST. art. XVIII, §§ 18.03 & 18.07; PA. CONST. art. IX, §2; R.I. CONST. art. XIII, § 2; TENN. CONST. art. XI, § 9; WASH. CONST. art. XI, § 10; WYO. CONST. 97-13-001(c); Niklaus v. Miller (1954) 159 Neb. 301, 309, 66 N.W.2d 824, 829 (Charter prevails over prevailing wage law for local project).) (See, RJN, Exhibits "2"- "26".)

bind charter cities); *In re: Work Uniform Compensation Cases* (2005) 133
Cal.App.4th 328 (expenditures on public employee wages); *Mullins v. Henderson* (1946) 75 Cal.App.2d 117, 129-130 (charter cities may pay private employees to operate a street railway).)

The Home Rule section was amended again in 1914, with the final change coming on June 2, 1970. (Cal. Const. Art. XI, Sec. 5.) California is still the state with the strongest Home Rule tradition.² This constitutional provision states, in part, that charter city authority "with respect to municipal affairs shall supersede all laws inconsistent therewith."

Applying the "municipal affairs" rule has been difficult at best since the 1914 amendment. Courts reviewed "municipal affairs" issues on an *ad hoc* basis. This led to confusion over whether there is a unifying standard for determining what a "municipal affair" is. One justice referred to the definition of "municipal affairs" as "loose, indefinable, wild words." (*Braun* (1903) 141 Cal. at p. 214.) This *ad hoc* process is contrary to usual methods of statutory construction. (*See e.g., Estate of Horman* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 62; *Maples v. Kern County Assessment Appeals Bd.* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 172,) To determine whether local rules govern a "municipal affair," courts will look at the wisdom of the measure over the passage of time as established by the evidentiary record. (*Bishop v. City of San Jose*

² Sato, "Municipal Affairs" in California, 60 Cal.L.Rev. 1055 (1972) ("Sato"); Sandalow, The Limits of Municipal Power Under Home Rule: A Role for the Courts, 48 Minn, L. Rev. 643 (1964).

(1969) 1 Cal.3d 56.) In *Bishop*, this Court held that the Legislature's intent in adopting general laws could lead courts to the conclusion that the matter is of statewide rather than local concern. However, a Legislative declaration, standing alone, is not determinative of the state/local authority issue. (*County of Riverside v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 278, 286.)

In the *Bishop* dissent, Justice Peters argued the "inquiry ends once the statewide concern is found, and there is no need to weigh the state and municipal concerns or to determine which should predominate." (*Bishop* at p.66.) Petitioner also wishes to look strictly to state concerns, as expressed solely by the Legislature, to determine whether or not they supersede even strongly founded municipal affairs. Justice Peters' approach is more like the "preemption" test that governs general law cities rather than one that reflects the true constitutional grant of authority given to charter cities. (*See, e.g., Fisher v. City of Berkeley* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 644, 708.) Under preemption, the Court looks solely at whether the Legislature has occupied the field of regulation.

The Bishop decision is still a great influence on subsequent decisions in the area of "municipal affairs." (California Federal Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1, 16 ("Cal Fed").) This doctrine does not designate any particular area of regulation as being solely a "municipal affair" or a "statewide concern." However, the method of analysis is key. Since the case law is made on an ad hoc basis, general

rules are hard to establish. Typically, courts have looked at the external effects of municipal regulation, the scope of statewide interests and the effects on the internal procedures of a charter city. (See: Sato, "Municipal Affairs" in California, 60 Cal.L.Rev. 1055 (1972) ("Sato"); Sandalow, The Limits of Municipal Power Under Home Rule: A Role for the Courts, 48 Minn. L. Rev. 643 (1964) .) This Court follows Bishop to this day and still makes an independent determination using the record before it.

Since *Bishop*, this Court has further refined these standards, primarily in two cases. (*See, Johnson v. Bradley* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 389; *California Federal Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1.) *Cal Fed* rejected a city tax and *Bradley* upheld public campaign finance using the same analysis.

First, a court must look to whether there is an actual conflict between the state statute and the charter city's measure. (Bradley (1992) 4 Cal.4th at p. 400; Cal Fed (1991) 54 Cal.3d at p. 16.) Next, the inquiry is whether the statute in question qualifies as a "statewide concern." (Bradley at p. 404; Cal Fed at p. 17.) In Cal Fed, this Court found a statewide concern. Cal Fed cited tax uniformity laws and the significant trial court record documenting statewide concerns. Among factors that weighed in favor of finding a statewide concern was a Constitutional provision requiring taxation uniform with other states. Article XIII, § 27 limits taxation of banks to a state tax based on "net income" and is "in lieu of all other taxes

and license fees."

While taxation is a significant local concern, this Court cautioned against "compartmentalizing" any specific area of regulation on either side of the equation. (Cal Fed at pp. 15-18.) Hence, if the "statewide concern" is both (1) related to the resolution of the concern and (2) narrowly tailored, state law will prevail. (Bradley at p. 404, Cal Fed at p.17.) In Cal Fed, the Legislature regulated the entire banking industry. The record established the need for uniformity with other states. The Legislature had tailored the legislation to meet those interests. A strong factual record, specific Constitutional authority, and a comprehensive regulatory scheme justified supersession of a core municipal affair.

In *Bradley*, this Court found a conflict, saw a statewide concern, but eventually found that Elections Code § 85300 was not reasonably related to the statewide concern of "enhancing the integrity of the electoral process" or preventing conflicts of interest. (*Bradley* at pp. 410-411.) Therefore, it was not necessary to determine whether the statute was narrowly tailored. In *Bradley*, this Court looked at the broad purposes of the Elections Code rather than trying to parse a narrower "goal". (*Bradley* at pp. 406-408.)

To see whether a law is narrowly tailored, the Court must look at the level of intrusion into the "municipal affairs" of a charter city. Here, mandatory higher costs are imposed on locally funded construction. It is not merely a procedural intrusion or a law designed to establish uniform

standards to meet constitutional due process or equal protection minimums. Even assuming a "statewide concern", Petitioner must show PWL is a minimal intrusion into the contracting and fiscal affairs of charter cities by the PWL. (i.e., County of Riverside v. Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 278, 287-289.) That is not possible since PWL's purpose is to raise wages at local expense. Petitioner did not contest that there are significantly higher costs for "prevailing wages" and "apprenticeship' requirements making it difficult to pass the last two parts of the test. The record shows that cost was a significant factor on the Vista voters' minds. (JA 1:38, 42.)

Since these three cases (*Bishop, Cal Fed,* and *Bradley*) were decided, courts have relied upon this analysis to determine Section 5(a) questions (*i.e., Regents of University of California v. Aubry* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 579, 586-592). Courts have also relied upon strong trial court records showing more than legislative pronouncements to find a "statewide concern."

2. PWL is not of "Statewide Concern".

Case law interpreting Article XI, Section 5(a) may be divided into some general patterns. Generally, there are four types of cases: (1) extraterritorial concerns; (2) laws of universal application; (3) intracorporate issues of governance; and (4) need for uniformity to protect

constitutional rights such as due process and equal protection.³

a. This Case does not demonstrate any "Substantial Externalities" Implicating a "Statewide Concern".

Case law has shown that a traditional "municipal affair" can turn into a "statewide concern" if it exports "substantial externalities" throughout a region. An example of this is the Cal Fed case. (California Federal Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal. 3d 1.)

In Cal Fed, this Court struck down a business license tax that was assessed against savings banks based on gross receipts of the entire annual business activity of the entity. The tax conflicted with a State law that was established to equalize the tax burden on a corporation so that it could compete equally with competitors. (Id at pp. 7-10.) This state law expressly preempted local regulation so that all similar corporations had the same tax burden. This Court looked beyond the fact that fiscal affairs (taxation) was a charter city core function because of very serious national implications for all banks and savings banks throughout the State and the United States. This Court reasoned as follows:

Centralized command over the intrastate tax burden on savings banks thus provides an additional and increasingly important regulatory lever, one of several ways by which government can exert heightened control over conditions

³ Generally, these categories were discussed in a 1972 law review article attempting to discern general rules involving "municipal affairs/statewide concern" determinations. (Sato, "Municipal Affairs" in California, 60 Cal. L.Rev. 1055 (1972).)

affecting failing financial health of a critical segment of the state's economy. Aggregate taxes – including those imposed under the Los Angeles and like municipal tax schemes – have thus acquired a regulatory dimension they might not possess under different economic and competitive conditions affecting the savings and loan industry. And because the comprehensive regulation of savings banks takes place almost entirely at state and federal levels, these regulatory aspects of taxation necessarily transend local interests; they become, in other words, a subject of statewide concern. (California Federal Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1, 23.)

The savings bank tax conflicted with the state and federal regulatory interests that governed all savings banks and were meant to bring them into regulatory parity with banks in other states. The strong taxation interest of the charter cities gave way to a uniform law meant to bring California into parity with the rest of the country. The external impacts of taxing a savings bank based on its gross receipts for its entire business activity (not just within the boundaries of Los Angeles) went beyond the normal "municipal affairs" taxation impact. Based on these "extramural" impacts, this Court took the unusual step of striking down this tax regulation. (Cal Fed., 54 Cal. 3d, at p. 24.) A cumulative local tax created an unfairness that put California banks, as an industry, at a disadvantage compared to those in the rest of the country. Contrary to PWL, which applies only to certain government projects, these rules applied to charter cities and the private banking industry throughout the state and affected a national market.

Here, the PWL does not address the same type of extraterritorial concerns as the banking regulations. Except for the lack of a "statewide concern" here, this situation is closer to *Bradley's* campaign regulations (Johnson v. Bradley (1992) 4 Cal.4th 389.) In Bradley, this Court found that the state campaign rules were not reasonably related to resolving a matter of "statewide concern". (Johnson v. Bradley at pp. 410-411.) Elections Code § 85300 was not reasonably related to the broad statewide concern of "enhancing the integrity of the electoral process." Although persons from outside of the City contributed to campaigns, the local campaign rules of the City of Los Angeles were not of sufficient extraterritorial scope. The broader purposes of the Election Code "integrity" were not furthered by the statute restricting local campaign rules found in Los Angeles. Similarly, the broader purpose of the Labor Code, to protect all of the workers of the state, is not furthered by PWL. It targets only a small portion of the statewide workforce.

At the trial court, there was no evidence showing PWL impinged only "to a limited extent" on the fiscal and contractual affairs of Vista and other charter cities. (i.e., County of Riverside v. Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 278, 287-289; San Francisco Labor Council v. Regents of University of California (1980) 26 Cal.3d 785, 789-791.)⁴ The only

⁴ Riverside was a "substantial interference" case involving the Legislature requiring cities to delegate authority to set wages. San Francisco Labor

contracts at issue here are ones for local projects using local funds. No evidence was placed in the record at the trial court showing the effect of any charter city's locally funded local projects on the overall wage structure. Absent constitutional and statutory exemptions, public works contracts follow PWL. There was no evidence in the record showing the impact of charter cities versus the impact of other constitutional or legislative exceptions. (*See, infra*, pp. 35-53.) However, all of the extra costs are to be borne by the charter cities. This is a significant intrusion with no evidence of any impact on the statewide construction market in the record. Since the standard set by this Court requires changes over time to transmute a traditional "municipal affair" into a "statewide concern", there is nothing in the trial court record to support such a finding. (*Bishop v. San Jose* (1969) 1 Cal.3d 56, 63.)

Essentially, granting the writ would change the law and make a "statewide concern" out of any legislative intervention into almost any area of municipal governance on extraterritorial grounds. The current rule requires a determination that the extraterritorial impact of charter cities, using their taxing, fiscal and contracting authority, interferes with the state

Council involved legislation mandating prevailing wages for employees of the University of California. Unlike charter cities, the UC system does not have specific constitutional protections related to the setting of employees wages above the minimum wage. (Compare: Cal. Const. Art IX, § 9 & XI, § 5(b).) The San Francisco Labor Council decision was based on general language closer to that found in 5(a).

policy to keep wages high. Without a record showing interference here, this Court cannot make a determination that the extraterritorial impacts justify a shift in the division of power between local government and the state.

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